IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF SELECTION CALLS P.M.

Cit 20 2014 02:02 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

JUDY PALMIERI,

Appellant,

VS.

CLARK COUNTY, a political subdivision of the STATE OF NEVADA; DAWN STOCKMAN, CE096, individually,

Respondents.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court for the District of Nevada Order Granting Motions for Summary Judgment

Case No. A-11-640631-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

CAL J. POTTER, III, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 1988 C. J. POTTER, IV, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 13225 POTTER LAW OFFICES 1125 Shadow Lane Las Vegas, Nevada 89102 Attorneys for Appellant

A.

I.	Statement of Issues Presented for Review			
II.	Statement of Jurisdiction			
III.	Statement of the Case and Standard for Review			
IV. Statement of the Facts		ement of the Facts		
	A.	Animal Control's Failure to Investigate a Fictitious Complaint		
	B.	Service of Warrant Based on Fraudulent Affidavit 6-7		
	C.	Malicious Prosecution and Dismissal of		
		Criminal Charges 7-8		
V.	Argument			
	A.	The district court failed to view the evidence in the light most favorable to Mrs. Palmieri and erred in granting summary judgment		
		1. Clark County is Liable Because its Animal Control Department Has a Policy or Custom of Violating the Constitutional Rights of the County's Inhabitants and Because the Animal		

			Control Department Ratified the Actions of the Defendant Officers 9-10			
			a. Policy or Custom 10-12			
			b. Ratification 12-13			
	B.		dant Stockman is Not Entitled to Qualified nity			
	C.	Defendant Stockman is Not Entitled to Discretionary Immunity				
		1.	Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress and Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress			
		2.	Conspiracy			
		3.	Malicious Prosecution			
VI.	Conc	lusion				
VII.	Certif	ficate o	f Compliance			
VIII.	Certif	ficate o	f Service			
Appe	ndix .		filed contemporaneously			

B.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Adickes v. S. H. Kress & Co., 398 U.S. 144, 90 S. Ct. 1598 (1970) 23
<u>Anderson v. Liberty Lobby</u> , 477 U.S. 242 (1986)
Butler ex rel. Biller v. Bayer, 123 Nev. 450, 168 P.3d 1055 (2007) 15, 16, 17
<u>Catrone v. 105 Casino Corp.</u> , 82 Nev. 166 414 P.2d 106 (1966)
<u>Chew v. Gates</u> , 27 F.3d 1432, 1444 (9th Cir. 1994)
<u>Christie v. Iopa</u> , 176 F.3d 1231, 1238-39 (9th Cir. 1999)
<u>City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik</u> , 485 U.S. 112, 127 (1988)
Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. v. Thitchener,
192 P.3d 243, 252 (Nev. 2008)
<u>Davis v. City of Las Vegas</u> , 478 F.3d 1048, 1059 (9th Cir. 2007) 16
<u>Drummond v. City of Anaheim</u> , 343 F.3d 1052, 1056 (9th Cir. 2003) 8
<u>Franks v. Delaware</u> , 438 U.S. 154 (1978)
<u>Fuller v. City of Oakland</u> , 47 F.3d 1522, 1534 (9th Cir. 1995)
Gillette v. Delmore, 979 F.2d 1342, 1346 (9th Cir. 1992)
Gonzalez v. LVMPD, No. 61120, 2013 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1815;
2013 WL 7158415 (Nev. Nov. 21, 2013)

iii

Goodman v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept.,
963 F. Supp. 2d 1036, 1061 (D. Nev. 2013)
Hagblom v. State Director of Motor Vehicles,
93 Nev. 599, 571 P.2d 1172 (1977)
<u>Hampton v. Hanrahan</u> , 600 F.2d 600, 620-624 (7th Cir. 1979)
cert. granted in part, judgment rev'd in part on other grounds,
446 U.S. 754, 100 S. Ct. 1987 (1980)
<u>Harlow v. Fitzgerald</u> , 457 U.S. 800, 817-818, 102 S.Ct. 2727 (1982)
<u>Henry v. The County of Shasta</u> , 132 F.3d 512 (9th Cir. 1997)
Hilton Hotels Corp. v. Butch Lewis Prods., Inc.,
109 Nev. 1043, 862 P.2d 1207, 1210 (Nev. 1993)
<u>Hunter v. County of Sacramento</u> , 652 F.3d 1225, 1236 (9th Cir. 2011)
Huff v. N. Las Vegas Police Dep't.,
2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 179683 (D. Nev. Dec. 23, 2013)
<u>Jones v. City of Chicago</u> , 856 F.2d 985 (7th Cir. 1988)
<u>Jordan v. Bailey</u> , 113 Nev. 1038, 944 P.2d 828 (1997)
Kelly v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department,
2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 102495 (D. Nev. July 25, 2014)
LaMantia v. Redisi, 118 Nev. 27, 38 P.3d 877 (2002)

<u>Larez v. City of Los Angeles</u> , 946 F.2d 630 (9th Cir. 1991)
Martinez v. Maruszczak, 123 Nev. 433, 168 P.3d 720, 729 (2007) 15, 17, 19
<u>Mattos v. Agarano</u> , 661 F.3d 433 (9th Cir. 2011)
Monell v. Dept. of Social Services of the City of N.Y.,
436 U.S. 658, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 56 (1977)
Owen v. City of Independence, Mo., 445 U.S. 622, 100 S.Ct.1398 (1980) 13, 18
Pembaur v. City of Cincinnati, 475 U.S. 469, 480-81 (1986)
Sandoval v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't,
854 F. Supp. 2d 860, 871 (D. Nev. 2012)
<u>Star v. Rabello</u> , 97 Nev. 124, 625 P.2d 90, 91-92 (Nev. 1981)
<u>Tore, Ltd. v. Church</u> , 105 Nev. 183, 185, 772 P.2 1281, 1282 (1989)
<u>United States v. Lanier</u> , 520 U.S. 259, 269-71 (1997)
<u>United States v. Gaubert</u> , 499 U.S. 315, 323 (1991)
Vasquez-Brenes v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department,
2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 127405 (D. Nev. Sept. 10, 2014)
Williams v. City of North Las Vegas, 91 Nev. 622, 541 P.2d 652 (1975) 17

C.

TABLE OF STATUTES

RULES:
NRAP 3A(b)(1)
NRAP 4(a)
STATUTES:
42 U.S.C. §1983
Nevada Revised Statute 41.032
OTHER:
Wright, Miller and Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure Civil,
3d § 2732.2, at 152 (1998)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Whether the District Court erred when it declined to view the evidence in this case in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.
- Whether the District Court erred in granting the Defendants/Respondents Qualified Immunity.
- Whether the District Court erred in granting the Defendants/Respondents Discretionary Immunity.

II.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Nevada Supreme Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1).

This appeal is timely pursuant to NRAP 4(a):

Date of entry of written order appealed from: Feb. 5, 2014

Date notice of appeal filed: Feb. 27, 2014

This appeal is from a final order granting summary judgment in favor of the Defendants/Respondents.

. . .

III.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from a District Court Order granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment. This case arises out of the execution of a fraudulent search warrant and subsequent malicious prosecution which was a vindictive effort against Plaintiff/Appellant Judy Palmieri ("Mrs. Palmieri"), a proprietor of pet stores in Clark County and the City of Las Vegas at the Meadows Mall. The search warrant was based upon a false affidavit, filed by Respondent Dawn Stockman, which contained material misrepresentations concerning the identity and information provided to the City of Las Vegas, which was subsequently referred to Clark County Animal Control because Mrs. Palmieri's house was in the County.

On May 19, 2010, Clark County Animal Control served a search warrant upon Mrs. Palmieri's residence at 4302 Callahan Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada. There were no exigent circumstances in existence at the time the warrant was sought or executed. Most significantly, the warrant was obtained without validating the identity of the person reporting the alleged violations at Plaintiff's residence. Additionally, the search warrant was executed on the day that a new Animal Control ordinance went into effect.

Respondents based their warrant on a purported complaint made by Kaitlyn Nichols, who in reality had never even been to Plaintiff's home. Respondents knew, or reasonably should have known, that the statement by the alleged witness was untrue. Similarly, Respondents knew, or reasonably should have known, at the time that the warrant was sought that the statements were untrue. Defendants had the intent of going to Plaintiff's residence in order to commence criminal proceedings based upon prior failed attempts to find violations.

The warrant was facially invalid and contained inaccurate information which was not only untrue but, most importantly, was unverified and unreliable. When Mrs. Palmieri offered to verify the inaccurate information the Officers refused and proceeded against Mrs. Palmieri's will to take her property without sufficient probable cause or basis in violation of Mrs. Palmieri's Constitutional rights. The information was later verified by Plaintiff demonstrating the witness had never been to Plaintiff's home further supporting retaliation against Plaintiff in violating her civil rights.

Mrs Palmieri filed suit for violations of her civil rights, malicious prosecution, and several other torts. This Court has jurisdiction over civil rights violation and state tort claims.

. . .

The standard of review to apply for review of summary judgment orders is de novo. Tore, Ltd. v. Church, 105 Nev. 183, 185, 772 P.2 1281, 1282 (1989).

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Both Clark County and the City of Las Vegas have long standing grudges against Mrs. Palmieri. Each entity has subjected Mrs. Palmieri to a pattern of continued harassment and excessive scrutiny. On April 29, 2007, Clark County Animal Control Officer, Danielle Harney, filed a declaration in support of a warrant and summons for alleged violations which were attributed against Mrs. Palmieri, individually, but should have only been brought against her husband's corporation. Harney's 2007 declaration was based upon alleged lack of care and treatment of the animals under the care of the corporation at a Clark County location.

Ultimately, Clark County Animal Control caused two criminal charges to be filed against Mrs. Palmieri, prior to the prosecution which is the basis of this litigation. The first criminal charges were brought on March 28, 2008 before the Honorable J. Bonaventure. When Mrs. Palmieri refused to plead guilty in that case, Clark County Animal Control sought out the Mrs. Palmieri with the specific purpose of finding criminal activity, without a warrant, and brought second

charges against her for twenty one alleged violations. The second prosecution was initially brought before the Honorable W. Jansen on July 21, 2008. Subsequently, the two matters were consolidated before the Honorable J. Bonaventure. The March 28, 2008 and July 21, 2008 charges against Plaintiff were ultimately dismissed on May 20, 2009. This failed prosecution became the basis for the search of Mrs. Palmieri's home.

A. Animal Control's Failure to Investigate a Fictitious

Q. Did you make any efforts to identify the individual that you had talked to as being Kaitlyn Nichols?

A. No.

complaints. Stockman testified as follows:

COMPLAINT

Q. And why is that?

A. That's not our normal procedure. We get thousands of calls. We don't go out and investigate if the person reporting is that person.

Q. Okay. So your actions were pursuant to policy and practice?

A. Correct

Q. Of your department?

A. Correct.

(APP 000164, p. 16, ln. 13-25).

Although Stockman swore to a judge that her affidavit was truthful, during her deposition, Stockman also conceded that her affidavit included several fallacies, inaccuracies, and misrepresentations. Stockman conceded that if the individual filing the complaint was not Kaitlyn Nichols then her report "would all be fictitious" (*APP 000168*, *p. 32*, *ln. 5-6*). Likewise, Stockman conceded that she made no effort to determine whether Ms. Nichols was a former employee of Mrs. Palmieri. (*Id.*, *p. 32*, *ln. 7 through p. 33*, *ln. 18*). Additionally, Stockman made no effort to investigate Kaitlyn Nichols' background. (*APP 000168*, *p. 33*, *ln. 25* through 000169, p. 34, ln, 2).

Stockman made no effort whatsoever to corroborate the purported report.

Stockman did not seek preliminary information, such as a description of the

residence. (*APP 000169*, *p. 34*, *ln. 13-15*). Incredibly, Stockman did not even ask the date of the alleged infractions which were the basis of the purported complaint. (*Id. p. 36*, *ln. 1 through p. 37*, *ln. 13*) Stockman likewise did not ever attempt to ascertain the number of animals alleged to be at Mrs. Palmieri's house. (*APP 000170*, *p. 38*, *ln. 1-6*).

Stockman also conceded that the prior contacts which she detailed in her affidavit concerned incidents which were not recent, but on the contrary, which had occurred approximately two and half to four and years prior. (*APP 000172*, *p. 46*, *ln. 6-11*; *Id. p. 49*, *ln. 18-21*). Lastly, Stockman never contacted Officer Jason Elff , whose prior report Stockman claimed necessitated obtaining a search warrant (*Id. p. 49*, *ln. 12-17*).

B. SERVICE OF WARRANT BASED ON FRAUDULENT AFFIDAVIT

On May 19, 2010, Animal Control officers Dawn Stockman and Tory Olson served a search warrant at Mrs. Palmieri's residence. (*APP 000229, ln. 13-16*). Stockman and Olson were accompanied by a Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department officer. Metro is not a part of this lawsuit. Mrs. Palmieri's residence is in a neighborhood which is zoned "rural estates residential." Mrs. Palmieri's neighbors have horses, goats, chickens, and pigs. (*APP 000259, ln. 24 through APP 000260, ln. 6*).

At the time of the execution of the warrant, Mrs. Palmieri was in the shower when she heard her alarm chime. (*APP 000229, ln. 20-24*). Mrs. Palmieri quickly dressed and headed down stairs. When she encountered the individuals executing the search warrant, Mrs. Palmieri was in pajamas and was not wearing underwear nor shoes. (*APP 000233, ln. 20-22*).

Thereafter, Mrs. Palmieri told the agents that there were inaccuracies in the affidavit. (*Id. ln. 12-13*). While executing the warrant, Dawn Stockman told Mrs. Palmieri that "Animal Control has never been able to get anything on you until now" (*APP 000273 ln. 18-22*). Mrs. Palmieri understood Stockman's statement to mean that the very day that a new ordinance went into effect animal control served a warrant on Mrs. Palmieri's residence to conduct an exploratory search to try and find anything. (*Id. ln. 18-22*).

Following the execution of the search warrant, Stockman took Mrs.

Palmieri's two elderly dogs without justification and caused one of them to be burned when the elderly dog was forced to ride in an excessively hot area of the Animal Control truck. (*APP 000182*).

C. MALICIOUS PROSECUTION AND DISMISSAL OF CRIMINAL CHARGES

Following the execution of the search warrant, Clark County and Dawn

Stockman brought five new charges against Mrs. Palmieri before the Honorable

M. Andress-Tobiasson. The charges were ultimately dismissed on October 4, 2010 pursuant to a Motion to Suppress.

V.

ARGUMENT

A. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO VIEW THE EVIDENCE IN THE LIGHT

MOST FAVORABLE TO MRS. PALMIERI AND ERRED IN GRANTING

SUMMARY JUDGMENT

Cases based on violations of constitutional rights are often inappropriate for summary judgment. Wright, Miller and Kane, *Federal Practice and Procedure Civil*, 3d § 2732.2, at 152 (1998). This is because police misconduct cases almost always turn on a jury's credibility determinations. <u>Drummond v. City of Anaheim</u>, 343 F.3d 1052, 1056 (9th Cir. 2003). "Further, the very nature of the claims involved often presents factual issues that require summary judgment to be denied." <u>Id</u>. "Credibility determinations, the weighing of evidence and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge . . . the evidence of the non-movant is to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drawn in her favor." <u>See, Anderson v. Liberty Lobby</u>, 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986).

. . .

1. Clark County is Liable Because its Animal Control Department Has a Policy or Custom of Violating the Constitutional Rights of the County's Inhabitants and Because the Animal Control Department Ratified the Actions of the Defendant Officers

In Monell v. Dept. of Social Services of the City of N.Y., 436 U.S. 658, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 56 (1977), the Supreme Court held that municipalities are persons subject to liability under §1983 where, "action pursuant to a official municipal policy of some nature cause[s] a constitutional tort." Id. at 691.

A plaintiff can establish municipal liability under 42 U.S.C. §1983 in one of three ways. Gillette v. Delmore, 979 F.2d 1342, 1346 (9th Cir. 1992). "First, the plaintiff may prove that a city employee committed the alleged constitutional violation pursuant to a formal government policy or a longstanding practice or custom which constitutes the standard operating procedure of the local governmental entity." Id. "Second, the plaintiff may establish that the individual who committed the constitutional tort was an official with 'final policy-making authority' and that the challenge action itself thus constituted an act of official governmental policy." Id. (citing Pembaur v. City of Cincinnati, 475 U.S. 469, 480-81 (1986)). "Third, the plaintiff may prove that an official with final policy-making authority ratified a subordinate's unconstitutional decision or action and

the basis for it. <u>Id</u>. at 1346-47 (citing <u>City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik</u>, 485 U.S. 112, 127 (1988). Here, Plaintiff asserts municipal liability based upon two of the above theories: (1) the existence of municipal policies that caused a constitutional harm, and (2) the City's ratification of the Officers' unconstitutional conduct.

a. Policy or Custom

A local government entity may be held liable pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1983 where the alleged constitutional tort was inflicted in the execution of the entity's (1) policy or (2) custom. Monell v. Dept. of Social Services, 436 U.S. 658, 690-91, 98 S.Ct. 2018, 2035-36 (1978). In order to avoid summary judgment, Plaintiff need only show that there is a question of fact regarding whether there is a city custom or policy that caused the constitutional deprivation. See, Chew v. Gates, 27 F.3d 1432, 1444 (9th Cir. 1994)(city may be liable when its policy is the moving force behind the constitutional violation). For purposes of proving a Monell claim, a custom or practice can be supported by evidence of repeated constitutional violations which went uninvestigated and for which the errant municipal officers went unpunished. Hunter v. County of Sacramento, 652 F.3d 1225, 1236 (9th Cir. 2011). Additionally, a policy or custom of constitutional violations may be proved by subsequent acts. See, Larez v. City of Los Angeles, 946 F.2d 630 (9th Cir. 1991)(Court relied upon evidence of subsequent acts in

holding police chief liable in his individual and official capacities) and <u>Henry v.</u>

The County of Shasta, 132 F.3d 512 (9th Cir. 1997)(Holding, in part, that postevent evidence is not only admissible for proving existence of municipal defendant's policy or custom to violate federal rights in §1983 actions, but is also highly probative to that inquiry).

In the case at hand, a reasonable jury could determine that Clark County had a policy or custom of violating citizen's constitutional rights based upon the County's policy of failing to adequately investigate complaints as testified to by Dawn Stockman in her deposition and verify the identity and reliability of complainants. As noted above, Dawn Stockman conceded that Clark Country Animal Control has a policy of not ascertaining the identity of individuals whom file complaints. Additionally, Stockman testified to all of her failings during her investigation, including the failure to obtain a date of the alleged infraction, the failure to get a description of the residence, the failure to ask the alleged number of animals at the residence, and the failure to investigate the background of the individual making the complaint. As a result, a reasonable juror could determine that the County is liable for Mrs. Palmieri's civil rights violations as a result of the County's policy and practice of tolerating inadequate investigations and failing to adequately investigate complaints and complainants. Therefore, there exits a

genuine issue of material fact as to whether the County's policies and practices caused the violation of Mrs. Palmieri's civil rights. Yet, the district court erred in failing to view those facts in the light most favorable to Mrs. Palmieri. Incredibly, the district court concluded that "County policy clearly states that warrants are carefully reviewed." The district court did not elaborate upon its ambiguous and conclusory statement, however the conclusion that warrants are "carefully reviewed" is contradicted by the testimony of Respondent Stockman and thus belied by the record.

b. Ratification

"Ordinarily, ratification is a question for the jury." <u>Christie v. Iopa</u>, 176

F.3d 1231, 1238-39 (9th Cir. 1999). A single decision by a municipal official that ratifies unconstitutional conduct may be sufficient to trigger §1983 liability if that official has "final policymaking authority." <u>Pembaur</u>, 475 U.S. at 481/83; <u>Gillette</u>, 979 F.2d at 1347.¹

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