IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JUDY PALMIERI,

Appellant,

VS.

CLARK COUNTY, a political subdivision of the STATE OF NEVADA; DAWN STOCKMAN, CE096, individually,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Nov 19 2014 10:54 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No.: 65143

Appeal

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Gloria Sturman, District Judge District Court Case No. A-11-640631-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

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

2. <u>Even if Respondents Violated a Constitutional Right, the Right Was</u> Not Clearly Established at the Time of the Alleged Violation

Qualified immunity protects "all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law." *Malley v. Briggs*, 475 U.S. 335, 341, 106 S. Ct. 1092, 89 L. Ed. 2d 271 (1986). "Qualified immunity under federal law is not merely a defense to liability; it is 'an entitlement not to stand trial or face the other burdens of litigation." *Id., quoting Saucier v. Katz, supra,* and *Mitchell v. Forsyth*, 472 U.S. 511, 526, 105 S.Ct. 2806, 86 L.Ed.2d 411 (1985)). "Accordingly, a defense of qualified immunity should be resolved at the earliest possible stage in litigation, as a finding of qualified immunity is an appropriate basis for granting summary judgment." *Id.*

"The pertinent inquiry in determining whether an officer is entitled to qualified immunity for a Fourth Amendment violation is whether a reasonable officer *could have believed* his conduct lawful under the <u>clearly established</u> <u>principles</u> of law governing that conduct." Ortega v. Reyna, supra, 114 Nev. at 59, 953 P.2d at 21, citing Alexander v. County of Los Angeles, 64 F.3d 1315, 1319 (9th Cir.1995) (emphasis added). "An allegation of malice is not sufficient to defeat immunity if the officer acted in an objectively reasonable manner." Id., citing

Hansen v. Black, 885 F.2d 642, 644 (9th Cir.1989). The Ortega Court went on to

further explain the application of the doctrine of qualified immunity:

In determining whether the law is clearly established, "[t]he operation of this standard ... depends substantially upon the level of generality at which the relevant 'legal rule' is to be identified." Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 639, 107 S.Ct. 3034, 3038–3039, 97 L.Ed.2d 523 (1987). The right which the official is alleged to have violated "must be sufficiently clear that a reasonable official would understand that what he is doing violates that right." Id. at 640, 107 S.Ct. at 3039. The issue is "the objective (albeit fact-specific) question whether a reasonable officer could have believed [appellant's] warrantless [arrest] to be lawful, in light of clearly established law and the information the ... officer[] possessed." Id. at 641, 107 S.Ct. at 3040. Stated another way, we look not at whether there was an arrest without probable cause, but rather whether the trooper reasonably could have believed that his conduct was lawful in light of clearly established law and the totality of the circumstances. Alexander, 64 F.3d at 1319.

Ortega at 59-60, 953 P.2d at 21.

Here, there is no rule of law, let alone a "clearly established" one, that required Stockman to verify the identity of the informant. As demonstrated above, even information from anonymous informants can give rise to probable cause. Stockman had no reason to believe that she was not speaking with the "real" Kaitlyn Nichols. Stockman corroborated much of the information she received from the informant. The story itself was detailed and credible on an objective basis.

Courts are even more likely to find qualified immunity where the applicant sought the advice of a lawyer, and the lawyer finds probable cause. *Ewing v. City of Stockton*, 588 F.3d 1218 (9th Cir. 2009). Here, a deputy district attorney reviewed the application and approved it before sending it to a district court judge. Even before that, Stockman had supervisors review and approve the application.

In sum, Appellant's claims of constitutional violations are barred by qualified immunity, and on that additional basis, the district court's order must be affirmed.

C. The District Court Properly Dismissed Appellant's Monell Claim

There is no *respondent superior* liability under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, but an action against a municipality will lie if there is an official policy, practice or custom that was the "moving force" behind a violation of someone's constitutional rights. *Monell v. City of New York*, 436 U.S. 658, 694, 98 S. Ct. 2018, 56 L. Ed. 2d 611 (1978). To establish a *Monell* claim, Appellant must prove that (1) she possessed a constitutional right that was violated, (2) that Clark County had an official policy, (3) that the policy amounts to a deliberate indifference of the Appellant's constitutional rights, and (4) that the policy was the moving force behind the violation. *Plumeau v. Yamhill Sch. Dist.*, 130 F.3d 432, 438 (9th Cir. 1997).

A plaintiff may base his or her claim of municipal liability on three theories: commission, omission, or ratification. *See Clouthier v. Cnty. of Contra Costa*, 591 F.3d 1232, 1249–50 (9th Cir.2010). A plaintiff seeking to establish liability for a municipality's omissions must show that the municipality's "deliberate indifference led to its omission and that the omission caused [a municipal] employee to commit the constitutional violation." *Gibson v. Cnty. of Washoe*, 290 F.3d 1175, 1186 (9th Cir. 2002). "To prove deliberate indifference, the plaintiff must show that the municipality was on actual or constructive notice that its omission would likely result in a constitutional violation." *Id*.

Here, the most fundamental element of Appellant's *Monell* claim is missing – there is no constitutional violation because there was probable cause. Even if the Court concludes otherwise, Appellant's *Monell* claim is clearly of the "omission" type because she asserts that the County should have had a policy that would have required Stockman to verify the identity of the informant. However, any constitutional violation the Court would find would be new, unique, and not reasonably anticipated based on the law surrounding anonymous informants. As such, Appellant did not and cannot show that the County had actual or constructive notice that the lack of such a policy would lead to a constitutional violation.

Appellant argues that this is a "ratification" case, not an "omission" case. Mere "acquiescence" is wholly insufficient in ratification cases, however. *Gillette v. Delmore*, 979 F.2d 1342, 1348 (9th Cir. 1992). The law required Appellant to show that the County made a "deliberate choice from among various alternatives to follow a particular course of action." *Id., citing Pembaur v. City of Cincinnati*, 475 U.S. 469, 483, 106 S. Ct. 1292, 89 L. Ed. 2d 452 (1986). Likewise, the law requires "that a policymaker approve a subordinate's decision *and the basis for it* before the policymaker will be deemed to have ratified the subordinate's discretionary decision" (and thus converting it into a "policy"). *Id*. (emphasis in original), *citing City of St. Louis v. Praprotnik*, 485 U.S. 112, 123, 108 S. Ct. 915, 99 L. Ed. 2d 107 (1988). Moreover, ratification is after-the-fact "affirmative" or "express" "approvals" of the underlying wrongful conduct of the municipal employee. *Fuller v. City of Oakland, Cal.*, 47 F.3d 1522 (9th Cir. 1995); *Christie v. Iopa*, 176 F.3d 1231 (9th Cir. 1999).

Here, there is no evidence that any supervisor at Clark County affirmatively or expressly approved Stockman's decision to proceed with the application without verifying the identity of the informant. There is likewise no proof that the County approved the *basis* for Stockman's decision. As such, Appellant failed in her burden to come forward with evidence of ratification, and the district court properly dismissed the *Monell* claim.

D. <u>The District Court Properly Dismissed Appellant's Tort Claims</u>

1. Every Common Law Claim Required that Probable Cause be Lacking

Each of Appellant's state law claims required that the County acted either negligently or intentionally to harm Appellant. *See Butler ex rel. Biller v. Bayer*, 123 Nev. 450, 461, 168 P.3d 1055, 1063 (2007) (for negligence, requiring a breach

of a duty of care and affirming summary judgment where no duty exists as a matter of law); *LaMantia v. Redisi*, 118 Nev. 27, 30, 38 P.3d 877, 879 (2002) (for malicious prosecution, requiring a lack of probable cause and malice); *Jordan v. State ex rel. Dep't of Motor Vehicles & Pub. Safety*, 121 Nev. 44, 74–75, 110 P.3d 30, 51 (2005), *abrogated on other grounds by Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 228 n. 6, 181 P.3d 670, 672 n. 6 (2008) (for conspiracy, requiring an "agreement. . . to unlawfully harm" and "an act of fraud in furtherance thereof"); *Star v. Rabello*, 97 Nev. 124, 125, 625 P.2d 90, 92 (1981) (for intentional infliction of emotional distress, requiring "extreme and outrageous conduct with either the intention of, or reckless disregard for, causing emotional distress").

In order to oppose summary judgment, Appellant had the burden to come forward with evidence of such intentional or negligent conduct. *Wood, supra*. However, as for intentional conduct, Appellant freely admitted that Stockman had no intent to harm Appellant. There is otherwise no evidence in the record suggesting Stockman had the intent to harm, let alone malice. As for negligent conduct, there is no duty to verify the name of an informant as a matter of law.

In sum, because probable cause existed in this case, Appellant has no viable common law cause of action against either Stockman or the County (through the acts of Stockman). Put most plainly, Respondents simply did not do anything wrong.

2. <u>The District Court Properly Found that Discretionary Immunity Barred</u> <u>All Tort Claims</u>

a. Statement of Law Before and After Martinez v. Maruszczak

Even if the Court identifies a question of fact as to some actionable harm, discretionary immunity would still bar the tort claims. As the *Ortega* Court explained, qualified immunity bars federal constitutional claims, while state discretionary immunity under NRS 41.032(2) bars all state claims. *Ortega, supra,* 114 Nev. at 62, 953 P.2d at 23. In *Martinez v. Maruszczak,* 123 Nev. 433, 168 P.3d 720 (2007), the Court thoroughly reviewed its prior jurisprudence on the discretionary function exception to the waiver of sovereign immunity. The Court found that "Nevada's statutory language mirrors the Federal Tort Claims Act," and proceeded to look at federal court decisions for guidance. The Court then adopted the United States Supreme Court's two-part test to determine whether an act is discretionary in nature. *Id.* at 435. The test is known as the *Berkovitz-Gaubert* test.⁷

Under the first criterion, "the acts alleged to be negligent must be discretionary, in that they involve an 'element of judgment or choice." *Martinez*, 123 Nev. at 445, 168 P.3d at 728. "If the challenged conduct meets this first criterion . . . the court must consider the second criterion: 'whether [the] judgment is of the

⁷ See Berkovitz v. United States, 486 U.S. 531, 108 S. Ct. 1954, 100 L. Ed. 2d 531 (1988); United States v. Gaubert, 499 U.S. 315, 111 S. Ct. 1267, 113 L. Ed. 2d 335 (1991).

kind that the discretionary-function exception was designed to shield." Id., quoting

Berkovitz and *Gaubert*. The court further held:

[C]ertain acts, although discretionary, do not fall within the discretionary-function exception's ambit because they involve 'negligence unrelated to any plausible policy objectives.' For example, a government employee who falls asleep while driving her car on official duty is not protected by the exception because her negligent judgment in falling asleep 'cannot be said to be based on the purposes that the regulatory regime seeks to accomplish.' *Id.* at 728-729 (citation omitted).

In applying the *Berkovitz-Gaubert* test, courts must consider the legislature's intent in enacting the discretionary function exception; i.e., "to prevent judicial 'second-guessing' of legislative and administrative decisions grounded in social, economic, and political policy through the medium of an action in tort." *Martinez* at 446, 168 P.3d at 729.⁸ The Court went on to state:

Thus, if the injury-producing conduct is an integral part of governmental policy-making or planning, if the imposition of liability might jeopardize the quality of the governmental process, or if the legislative or executive branch's power or responsibility would be usurped, immunity will likely attach under the second criterion. *Id.*⁹

⁸ Citing United States v. Varig Airlines, 467 U.S. 797, 814, 104 S. Ct. 2755, 81 L. Ed. 2d 660 (1984).

⁹ Citing Horta v. Sullivan, 4 F.3d 2, 19 (1st Cir. 1993).

The Court applied this test in a constitutional context in *Ransdell v. Clark County*, 124 Nev. 847, 192 P.2d 756 (2008). There, the Court agreed that the County's decision to abate a nuisance was discretionary in nature and grounded in social, economic, and political policy.

Prior to *Martinez*, this Court interpreted NRS 41.032(2) broadly to bar state tort claims against law enforcement officers. *See Ortega*, 114 Nev. at 62, 953 P.2d at 23 (police officer entitled to immunity where he used his judgment in stopping the plaintiff, arresting her, and taking her to jail); *Maturi v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dept.*, 110 Nev. 307, 309-10, 871 P.2d 932, 934 (1994) (arresting officers' decision to handcuff plaintiff behind his back rather than in front was discretionary).

The Court has found one narrow exception. If an officer's actions are "attributable to bad faith, immunity does not apply whether an act is discretionary or not." *Falline v. GNLV Corp.*, 107 Nev. 1004, 1009, 823 P.2d 888 (1991); *see also Jordan v. State Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 121 Nev. 44, 49 n. 66, 110 P.3d 30 (2005). Such "bad faith" is akin to an "abuse" of the officer's considerable discretion. In other words, if an act "completely transcends the circumference of authority granted the individual or entity," NRS 41.032(2) would not apply. *Falline* at 1009, 823 P.2d at 892, n. 3. To meet this standard, the plaintiff must generally demonstrate "personal animus" towards the plaintiff. *Id*.

This Court does not appear to have specifically re-employed these tests post-*Martinez*, but did reference *Falline* in *City of Boulder City v. Boulder Excavating*, *Inc.*, 124 Nev. 749, 759, 191 P.3d 1175, 1182 (2008) (holding that city entitled to discretionary immunity for decision to terminate contractor). The federal courts have specifically cited *Ortega* and *Maturi* post-*Martinez*. *See, e.g., Carey v. Nevada Gaming Control Bd.*, 279 F.3d 873, 878 (9th Cir.2002); *Davis v. City of Las Vegas*, 478 F.3d 1048, 1059-60 (9th Cir. 2007).

This Court did employ *Martinez* in a case involving a warrant in an **unpublished** decision. *See Gonzalez v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't*, No. 61120, 2013 WL 7158415, at *1 (Nov. 21, 2013). There, the Court held that immunity applied to bar state claims arising from an allegation that the warrant was obtained without probable cause. The decision does not reference the standard under Ortega/Maturi. Instead, the Court cited *Santiago v. Mass. Dep't of State Police*, 2013 WL 680685, at *9 (D. Mass. 2013), for the proposition that "officers' decisions regarding investigations and when to seek warrants for arrests are based on considerations of public policy." 2013 WL 7158415, at *3.

Appellant attempts to distinguish *Gonzalez* by citing to *Sandoval v. Las Vegas Metro. Police Dep't*, 756 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 2014). However, *Sandoval* was about a warrantless search where police pointed guns at and handcuffed three innocent boys in their home and then killed their dog, facts egregious enough to qualify as "bad faith" under *Falline*. *Sandoval* in no way supports a proposition that the *Ortega/Maturi/Falline* tests have been abandoned. Nor does it stand for a proposition that it is bad faith not to verify the identity of an informant.

b. Under Either Ortega/Maturi/Falline or Martinez v. Maruszczak, Respondents are Immune

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